SEP SULLIVERY COME TO CHEEK CO

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

) The Supreme Court Case No. 66,146

In Re: ALAN SILVERSTEIN
(Petition for Reinstatement)

The Florida Bar File No. MRE85001

COMPLAINANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

LOUIS THALER
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

INTRODUCTION

THE FLORIDA BAR, Respondent in the lower proceedings, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar".

ALAN SILVERSTEIN, Petitioner in the lower proceedings, will be referred to as "Alan Silverstein" or "Mr. Silverstein".

THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FLORIDA BAR will be referred to as the "Board of Governors".

The following symbols will be used in this Brief:

"T" - Transcript of the Reinstatement Hearing held on April 25, 1985.

"RR" - Report of Referee.

POINTS ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER PUBLIC POLICY SHOULD BE CONSIDERED A BAR TO THE REINSTATEMENT OF A SUSPENDED ATTORNEY WHERE THE GROUNDS FOR THE ORIGINAL SUSPENSION WERE THE ATTORNEY'S CRIMINAL CONVICTION FOR SALE AND DELIVERY OF COCAINE, A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

II.

WHETHER A PETITIONING ATTORNEY'S FINANCIAL INSTABILITY, AS REFLECTED BY OUTSTANDING LIENS AND JUDGMENTS, SHOULD BE CONSIDERED A NEGATIVE FACTOR IN DETERMINING HIS REINSTATEMENT.

III.

WHETHER, IN APPLYING A CASE BY CASE STANDARD, PETITIONING ATTORNEY ALAN SILVERSTEIN SHOULD BE REQUIRED TO TAKE THE FLORIDA BAR EXAMINATION.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On February 26, 1980, Alan Silverstein was adjudged guilty of sale or delivery of a controlled substance (approximately one ounce of cocaine) and was sentenced to confinement for a term of eighteen (18) months in the State Penitentiary by Eleventh Judicial Circuit Court Judge Richard S. Fuller. After serving approximately two and one-half (2 1/2) months of the state prison time, Judge Fuller mitigated the sentence to time served and ordered Mr. Silverstein released to the Concept House Drug Program.

Mr. Silverstein was suspended from the practice of law on March 14, 1980 by reason of said felony conviction pursuant to article XI, Rule 11.07 of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar.

On October 4, 1984, Mr. Silverstein filed a Petition for Reinstatement. Prior to formulating a position with respect to Mr. Silverstein's reinstatement, The Florida Bar conducted an investigation into Petitioner's fitness to resume the practice of law.

Thereafter, Bar Counsel polled the seven local members of the Board of Governors for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit to determine The Florida Bar's position with respect to the reinstatement. No local member of the Board of Governors opposed the reinstatement although some of the local members questioned Mr. Silverstein's financial condition as reflected by various judgments and liens against him and one local member questioned the reinstatement procedure itself. (T. 123).

On April 25, 1985, a reinstatement hearing was held before Referee Eugene S. Garrett, Circuit Court Judge for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit. At the hearing, Bar Counsel presented The Florida Bar's position that it neither supported nor opposed Silverstein's reinstatement (T. 5). Bar Counsel, however, pointed out to the Referee that The Florida Bar was concerned over Silverstein's financial condition as reflected by various judgments and liens against him (T. 6,123). Silverstein presented the testimony of several witnesses in favor of his reinstatement.

On May 29, 1985, Referee Garrett issued a Report of Referee recommending that Silverstein's Petition for Reinstatement be approved with the condition that Respondent forfeit his right to legally attack or avoid directly or collaterally, in any state or federal court, the judgments, and liens obtained against him before the reinstatement hearing (R.R. 3-4).

The Report of Referee was submitted to the full Board of Governors at their next meeting held July 31 to August 2, 1985, pursuant to article XI, Rule 11.09(3)(a) of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. The full Board of Governors voted to petition for review of the Report of Referee in order to challenge the reinstatement of Silverstein in its entirety for reasons set forth in this brief.

ARGUMENTS

I.

PUBLIC POLICY SHOULD BE CONSIDERED A BAR TO THE REINSTATEMENT OF A SUSPENDED ATTORNEY WHERE THE GROUNDS FOR THE ORIGINAL SUSPENSION WERE THE ATTORNEY'S CRIMINAL CONVICTION FOR SALE AND DELIVERY OF COCAINE, A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

Generally, the elements to be considered in regard to reinstatement of an attorney are (1) strict compliance with disciplinary order, (2) evidence of unimpeachable character, (3) clear evidence of good reputation for professional ability, (4) evidence of lack of malice and ill feeling toward those involved in bringing disciplinary proceedings, (5) personal assurances of sense of repentance and desire to conduct practice in exemplary fashion in future, and (6) restitution of funds. In Re Petition of Timson, 301 So.2d 448, 449 (Fla. 1974). Also, clearly, the Supreme Court may consider the underlying or prior disciplinary proceeding which gave rise to the discipline. In Re Petition of Rubin, 323 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1975); In Re Petition of Wolf, 257 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1972).

In the <u>Wolf</u> case, the reinstatement of the petitioner was denied because of the nature of the disciplinary offense and the felony conviction arising therefrom. The <u>Wolf</u> Court stated that if the concept of discipline and the protection of the public, as well as the image of The Florida Bar, are to have any meaning at all, such cases must be "viewed in the cold light of objectivity and without regard to personal sympathy". Wolf, supra, at 550.

This is the main contention of The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar and reason for this Petition for Review. The Board of Governors recognizes, as this Court recognized in the Wolf case, that "the Integration Rule at every turn places emphasis upon the protection of the public and the image and integrity of The Florida Bar as a whole". Wolf, supra, at 548. The Board of Governors contests Mr. Silverstein's reinstatement in order to promote this aim of the Integration Rule.

The Board of Governors has thus taken the position that attorneys suspended or disbarred for criminal convictions related to activities involving controlled substances should be placed under the strictest scrutiny before they are allowed to resume the practice of law. Although the Board of Governors in 1980 (the year of Mr. Silverstein's felony conviction) were aware of the serious impact of such offenses committed by attorneys, it was only recently that the Board of Governors felt compelled to take the above-stated position.

The Board of Governors has taken this position for many First, there is a near epidemic proportion of Florida attorneys who are becoming illicitly involved with the drug trade. The Florida Bar v. Beasley, 351 So.2d 959 (Fla. (conviction 1977) for delivery of marijuana warrants disbarment); The Florida Bar v. Schram, 355 So.2d 788 (Fla. (admitted quilt of possession of felony quantity of 1978) adjudication marijuana warrants suspension where withheld); The Florida Bar v. Ryan, 394 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1981)

(indictment on felony charges for intent to sell marijuana warrants disbarment after attorney failed to appear); The Florida Bar v. Penrose, 413 So.2d 15 (Fla. 1982) (involvement in conspiracy to purchase and distribute marijuana warrants disbarment); The Florida Bar v. Travelstead, 435 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1983) (conspiring to import marijuana disbarment); The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1983) (conviction for solicitation to traffic cocaine warrants disbarment); The Florida Bar v. Levenstein, 446 So.2d 87 (Fla. (involvement with drug-smuggling conspiracy warrants 1984) granting of leave to resign without leave to apply for readmission); The Florida Bar v. Sherry, 445 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 1984) (pleading guilty to conspiracy to traffic controlled substances warrants approval of petition for leave to resign Further, according to recent without leave to reapply). statistics formulated by The Florida Bar, from July 1983 to July 1985, there were 28 cases in which Florida attorneys were disciplined for involvement with drugs.

Second, aside from the actual statistics and involvement, the image of the Florida attorney has been greatly distorted in the eyes of the public not only in Florida, but, throughout the world. The Florida lawyer is becoming increasingly associated with the drug trade. This association is not one of providing the constitutionally guaranteed right to counsel, but one of providing help to, becoming involved with, deriving profit from, and actually aiding and abetting the drug trade. The Board of Governors believes that this image will not be

corrected until notice is given that drug-related offenses by Florida attorneys will not be easily forgiven. The Board of Governors do not want the criminal behavior of an objectionable few to continue to ruin the image and integrity of The Florida Bar and its approximately 36,000 attorneys.

The underlying facts of this case weigh against Silverstein's reinstatement. Respondent was convicted for sale and delivery of approximately one ounce of cocaine to an undercover officer for fifteen hundred dollars. The Florida Bar Integration Rule, article XI, Rule 11.02(3)(a) states, in part:

The commission by a lawyer of any act contrary to honesty, justice or good morals, whether the act is committed in the course of his relations as an attorney or otherwise, whether committed within or outside the State of Florida, and whether or not the act is a felony or misdemeanor, constitutes a cause for discipline.

Mr. Silverstein's actions were clearly contrary to honesty, justice and good morals. His genuine addiction to cocaine (T.15) adversely reflected on his fitness to practice law.

Damage to the integrity and image of The Florida Bar clearly would result from Mr. Silverstein's reinstatement after such a short length of time since this drug deal occurred. Mr. Silverstein was convicted in February 1980, suspended by The Florida Bar in March 1980, was in prison for 2 1/2 months in 1980 and in a drug treatment facility for approximately 16 months in 1980-1981. Mr. Silverstein's civil

rights were not restored until June 29, 1984, less than one year from the date of the reinstatement hearing held April 25, 1985.

This is a case where Mr. Silverstein's actions, although committed outside his role as an attorney, have done much harm to society and to the image of The Florida Bar. To allow Mr. Silverstein's reinstatement at this time could only cause further harm to the image and integrity of The Florida Bar.

II.

A PETITIONING ATTORNEY'S FINANCIAL INSTABILITY, AS REFLECTED BY OUTSTANDING LIENS AND JUDGMENTS, SHOULD BE CONSIDERED A NEGATIVE FACTOR IN DETERMINING HIS REINSTATEMENT.

In reviewing this matter, the Board of Governors found great financial instability on the part of Mr. Silverstein. This financial instability is reflected by outstanding liens and judgments against Mr. Silverstein. Mr. Silverstein has in some instances attempted to come to grips with these outstanding liens and judgments. However, in some instances Mr. Silverstein has not attempted to deal with them. Further, his attempts at paying off most of these financial obligations have come recently and clearly with an eye torward seeking a favorable position towards reinstatement to The Florida Bar. This was a major area of concern presented to the Referee by Bar Counsel (T.6). The majority of local Board of Governors members polled by Bar Counsel also expressed concern over Mr.

Silverstein's financial instability (T. 123). The Referee eventually held that Mr. Silverstein should be reinstated with the condition that he "forfeit his right to legally attack or avoid directly or collaterally in this state or federal court, including obviously bankruptcy court, these judgments, which are set forth in The Florida Bar Report of Investigation, that was made part of these proceedings . . . " (T. 132).

Based upon Mr. Silverstein's poor record with regard to these debts, the Board of Governors have taken the position that failure to come to terms with these financial obligations reflects negatively on his reinstatement. This is consistent with the case law involving reinstatements. In Re Petition of Rubin, 323 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1975) (unsatisfied judgments, and a failure to acknowledge liens in a personal financial statement filed for the purpose of demonstrating reinstatement, are antithetical to an affirmative showing of rehabilitation); In the Matter of Hodges, 229 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1969) (reinstatement of disbarred attorney was conditioned on his payment of outstanding debts arising from disbarment proceeding).

The Board of Governors urge that Mr. Silverstein's financial instability, as reflected by outstanding liens and judgments, should speak against his fitness to practice law and accordingly should prevent his reinstatement at this time.

IN APPLYING A CASE BY CASE STANDARD, PETITIONING ATTORNEY ALAN SILVERSTEIN SHOULD BE REQUIRED TO TAKE THE FLORIDA BAR EXAMINATION.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar are of the position that Mr. Silverstein should be required to take the bar examination to prove his fitness to resume the practice of law.

Whether it is proper to require a successful passing of the bar examination as a condition for reinstatement is considered on a case by case basis. The Florida Bar In Re Barket, 424 So.2d 751 (Fla. 1982). In Barket, the petitioning attorney had been out of practice for over six years and the bar examination was recommended by the Referee and ordered by the Court.

Although the taking of the bar examination was not recommended by the Referee in the instant case, this Court has ordered that the bar examination be taken in the absence of a Referee's recommendation. The Florida Bar In Re Warren, 408 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1981). In Warren, a suspended attorney who had been an active legal intern in Alabama was required to take the Florida and ethics parts of the bar examination even though the Referee did not recommend it.

This Court has stated that the requirement of taking the bar examination as a condition of reinstatement, where the attorney has been suspended and out of practice for over three years, is largely a judgment call. <u>Barket</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 751. The purpose of a bar examination is to test one's minimal competency to practice law. Given that purpose, the Board of Governors note that Mr. Silverstein's abilities and duties as a law clerk (T. 20) do not sufficiently test his competency to practice law. Mr. Silverstein has been out of the practice of law for over five years. Further, during the period in which he was licensed to practice law, he was having troubles with the law and an addiction to cocaine. Mr. Silverstein has admitted that (in response to a question about a phone call he allegedly received in 1979):

"Quite frankly, in November and December and January of 1979, if somebody called me up on the telephone, in the state of mind that I was in, I could have quite easily hung up on them, I could have hung up on my father as easily as this lady here." (T.120)

The Board of Governors further contends that since Mr. Silverstein's addiction to cocaine was legitimate (T.15-16), there was no way he could have been competently practicing law. Therefore, the period of possible incompetence extends far before his conviction in 1980.

Accordingly, due to the length of his suspension and his admitted past addiction to cocaine during the time period preceding the suspension, the Board of Governors believes that Mr. Silverstein should be required to successfully complete the Florida Bar Examination as a condition to his reinstatement to The Florida Bar.

CONCLUSION

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar filed this Petition for Review in order to protect the public and the image and integrity of The Florida Bar. Because of the near-epidemic proportion of Florida attorneys becoming illicitly involved with the drug trade, the reinstatement of Mr. Silverstein would adversely reflect on the image and integrity of The Florida Bar. Mr. Silvestein's actions were clearly contrary to honesty, justice and goods morals. Board of Governors find it repugnant that Mr. Silverstein would be allowed to be reinstated as a member in good standing to The Florida Bar only one year after his civil rights were restored and only five years since he sold one ounce of cocaine to an undercover police officer.

Further, aside from Mr. Silverstein's criminal background, the Board of Governors feel that Mr. Silverstein's financial instability, as reflected by outstanding liens and judgments against him, should be considered a negactive factor in determining his fitness to be reinstated as a member in good standing of The Florida Bar. This negative factor should by itself preclude Mr. Silverstein from reinstatement at this time.

Finally, upon the approval of this or any future Petition for Reinstatement by Mr. Silverstein, Mr. Silverstein should

be required to successfully pass the Florida Bar Examination. Mr. Silverstein has not practiced for the past five years while under suspension. Also, based upon his admitted drug addiction, his ability to practice law, during the years preceeding his felony conviction in 1980, is questionable.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar respectfully urge that the recommendation to approve Mr. Silverstein's Petition for Reinstatement, as contained in Report of Referee, be considered in the light of the arguments set forth herein and that Mr. Silverstein's reinstatement be denied.