IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

(Before a Referee)

Supreme Court Case No. 66, 146

The Florida Bar File No. MRE85001

))))

)

)

THE FLORIDA BAR

In Re: ALAN SILVERSTEIN, Petition for Reinstatement.



\_\_\_\_\_\_

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

\_\_\_\_\_\_

HORTON, PERSE & GINSBERG Attorneys for RESPONDENT Suite 410 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone: (305) 358-0427

# TOPICAL

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

#### ARGUMENT

## POINT I

WHETHER PUBLIC POLICY SHOULD BE CON-SIDERED A BAR TO THE REINSTATEMENT OF A SUSPENDED ATTORNEY WHEN THE GROUNDS FOR THE ORIGINAL SUSPENSION WAS THE ATTORNEY'S CRIMINAL CONVICTION FOR SALE AND DELIVERY OF COCAINE, A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

Rule 11.07(2)(4) of the Florida Integration Rule provides in part that an attorney adjudicated guilty of a felony shall automatically be suspended as a member of The Florida Bar, such suspension to continue for a period of three (3) years and thereafter until restoration of civil rights and reinstatement to the Bar pursuant to the Rules relating thereto.

Rule 11.11 of the Integration Rule establishes the procedure for reinstatement of a suspended attorney. Sub-section (5) provides that:

"The matter to be decided shall be the fitness of the petitioner to resume the practice of law."

Sub-section (9) provides in part that:

"If the petitioner is found fit to resume the practice of law, the judgment <u>shall</u> reinstate him in the Florida Bar." (Emphasis supplied)

\* "TT" will indicate reference to Transcript of Testimony

- 3 -

The Respondent was adjudicated guilty of a felony in February, 1980, and accordingly suspended from the Florida Bar in March, 1980. In 1983, the probationary period imposed upon the Respondent as a result of his felony conviction was terminated and the Respondent's civil rights were restored in June, 1984. He subsequently filed his petition for reinstatement with the Florida Bar in October, 1984. At the time of the Respondent's hearing before the Referee, in April, 1985, the Respondent had been suspended from the Florida Bar in excess of five (5) years by reason of his felony conviction and by the time of his reinstatement as the result of these proceedings, if such be the case, he will have been suspended six (6) years or more.

It is obvious from the foregoing recitation of dates and events that the Respondent has satisfied each and every provision of the Integration Rule set forth above as a <u>predicate</u> to seeking reinstatement. It is additionally abundantly clear from the record that the Respondent has in the past five and one-half years rehabilitated himself with respected law abiding members of the community, has earned the praise and respect of his present employers who are members of the Florida Bar, as well as his past employers and his former probation officer, drug addiction counselers and members of the judicial system. In short, the Respondent has demonstrated at every turn that he has overcome and put behind him that <u>isolated</u> event in his life that lead to his suspension. He has accepted full blame for

- 4 -

his past drug addiction and felony conviction and has not evidenced any bitterness or vengeance toward society because of it. Indeed, he has expressed the deep sorrow and remorse that he has experienced as a result of the shame and embarrassment caused to his fellow attorneys and the Florida Bar.

The Bar did not oppose the Respondent's reinstatement nor has it petitioned this Court to review the Referee's report recommending reinstatement because it questions the Respondent's rehabilitation during the past five and one-half years. Rather, to use the language of the Bar at page two of its brief:

> "... the main contention of the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar and the reason for [its] Petition for Review "is predicated upon the ground that Mr. Silverstein's suspension as of now for some five and a half (5-1/2) years is not long enough; that Mr. Silverstein's suspension should continue for an additional indefinite period of time to foster ... the concept of discipline and the protection of the public, as well as the image of The Florida Bar..." (Bar's brief, page 1)

The Bar so argues not because the Respondent was convicted of a felony, but more specifically because he was convicted of a felony relating to activities involving <u>controlled substances</u>. The Bar, therefore, wishes to classify a felony conviction involving controlled substances apart from other felonies. In view of the present language of the Integration Rules set forth above regarding felony convictions, suspensions and reinstatement, it would appear that the Bar desires to modify or in some fashion amend those specific provisions so as to declare that

- 5 -

notwithstanding anything to the contrary, an attorney convicted of a felon involving a controlled substance shall be automatically suspended from the Bar for a period in excess of that now in effect, or for that matter, indefinitely. What minimum specific period of suspension is endorsed or suggested by the Bar is unclear. It would seem likely to assume that it supports a minimum of five or six years inasmuch as the Bar objects to the Respondent's five and one-half years on the basis that it is of insufficient duration.

It may well be that this Court could in an appropriate fashion accomplish the measures advocated by the Bar if it weredeemed necessary and appropriate, but certainly not in this case. The Respondent respectfully submits that his Petition for Reinstatement should be judged by the existing provisions of the Integration Rule at the time of his petition as well as the judicial construction of those Rules by this Court. FLORIDA BAR v. KIMBALL, 425 So.2d 531, 533 (1983). It is only from that perspective that any meaningful response to the Bar's petition for review can be presented. Otherwise, the Respondent's answer brief and argument must become hopelessly lost in a discussion involving future public policy of the Bar and perhaps this Court. Such is not an appropriate subject for his speculation.

Viewed within the context of the present Integration Rule, the Bar would seem to be arguing in substance that the Referee's report is either <u>erroneous</u>, <u>unlawful</u> or <u>unjustified</u>

- 6 -

because the Respondent's suspension resulted from a felony conviction involving a controlled substance and his suspension accordingly is not long enough-rehabilitated or not. The foregoing criteria for review is provided in Rule 11.09(3)(e) of the Integration Rule as is the Bar's burden of proof as the party seeking review.

With regard to the review criteria above, the Bar has not suggested that the referee's report is unlawful. Nor does the Bar appear to contend that the Referee's report was erroneous in the sense that it was predicated upon an erroneous application of the law to the facts before the referee or an erroneous finding of fact. Rather, the Bar's argument more appropriately seems to fall within the third area of review supra - that is that the referee's report and recommendation of reinstatement was <u>unjustified</u>. Unjustified because termination of the Respondent's suspension and resulting reinstatement after only five and one-half years is too lenient for an attorney convicted of a felony involving a controlled substance.

The Respondent respectfully submits that the foregoing argument of the Bar incorrectly confuses punishment with rehabilitation in the setting of re-instatement proceedings and further, that the Bar has not sustained its burden in demonstrating that the Referee's report was unjustified or for that matter erroneous, if in fact, the Bar has so intended to argue notwithstanding the analysis above. The Respondent takes this position for the reasons below:

- 7 -

1. The Respondent does not in any way make light of the Bar's concern with the proliferation of drug use (and dependency) among its members and of the numerous felony convictions against attorneys involving controlled substance. Indeed, the Respondent an an admitted former addict is only too well aware of the devastation that is attendant to drug abuse, both professionally and personally. It is a problem that pervades every strata of our society, including attorneys. And certainly, the conviction of an attorney for a felony involving a controlled substance adversely reflects on the Bar. But so too does the conviction of any felony.

As has been observed by this Court before in determining what measures will adequately discipline an attorney it is appropriate, inter alia, to examine the gravity and nature of the offense. e.g., BAR v. WILSON, 425 So.2d (Fla. 1983); BAR v. CARBONARO, 464 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1985) infra; BAR v. FUSSELL, 179 So.2d 852 (Fla. 1965) infra. In the Respondent's statement of facts, supra, it was pointed out that the sale to which he pled quilty and for which he was convicted involved the delivery of cocaine to a friend, not undercover police as was recited in several instances in the Bar's brief. The Respondent does not in any manner mean to suggest that that distinction diminishes the seriousness of his offense. He has expressed in most graphic terms the disgust and contempt that he felt for himself both as an individual and as a member of the Bar by reason of his conviction. (T. 55, 56). Neverthe-

- 8 -

less, the distinction is significant in measuring and weighing any circumstances in mitigation of the severity of Mr. Silverstein's conduct.

As found by the Referee and not disputed by any party to these proceedings, the Respondent was a cocaine addict at the time of his offense. As an addict and drug abuser, his circle of friends and acquaintances increasingly became other addicts, drug users and drug abusers. As difficult as it may be for one not an addict or drug user to understand, in that drug subculture because of the unpredictable availability of controlled substances, in this case cocaine, friends and acquaintances will frequently turn to each other to procure them. Today, the same person who solicits a friend to find cocaine may the next week be called upon to perform the same service. Sooner or later every drug addict or drug abuser will procure drugs not only for himself but for his friends and within that context will be guilty of "selling" a controlled substance.

It was precisely under the foregoing circumstances that the Respondent sold the cocaine leading to his arrest and conviction. Phyllis Warren was a friend of the Respondent and his wife. She and the Respondent worked for the same company. They frequently used cocaine in each other's company, socialized in the drug culture, shared cocaine and procured cocaine for each other when a ready supply was not available from his or her own source.

In the latter part of 1979, Warren and the Respondent's

- 9 -

wife had an argument and thereafter they did not see her for several weeks. Soon Warren began calling the Silversteins several times a day, leaving messages on their answering machine and notes on their front door, apologizing for her argument with Mrs. Silverstein and seeking to make amends. At first Warren's overtures were ignored. The Respondent was again attempting to control his cocaine addiction and the absence of anyone from his life who was a drug user could only help. But eventually, Warren and Silverstein's wife reconciled their differences and it was at that time that Warren solicited the Silversteins' help in procuring cocaine. Unbeknownst to the Respondent, the previous frantic phone calls and notes and finally the solicitation for cocaine itself was inspired by law enforcement officials who had earlier arrested Warren, discovering a small amount of cocaine in her possession. Telling police that she had received the cocaine from the Respondent, the police employed her services to arrange for the incident that lead to the Respondent's arrest.

These then were the fact surrounding the Respondent's arrest and conviction. They reveal a man who had become seriously addicted to cocaine and whose quality of life, as is true of all addicts, became measured in terms of having continuous access to the drug. As noted earlier, the Respondent does not suggest that the foregoing circumstances surrounding his arrest minimize the seriousness of his offense nor justify it. Those circumstances, however, are relevant when one must

- 10 -

weigh the Respondent's professional punishment and discipline. This latter conclusion is amply demonstrated by the cases earlier cited and discussed below.

The Bar has cited several cases to underscore the involvement of Florida attorneys with the "drug trade" and those cases do indeed demonstrate that some attorneys in Florida have become involved in the "business" of drug trafficking. But, by the same token, the overwhelming majority of those cases are factually dissimilar in circumstance from that of the Respondent's offense other than the common denominator of drugs. For example, in BAR v. LEVENSTEIN, 446 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 1984), Levenstein was convicted for transporting large sums of money gained by a drug smuggling conspiracy of his clients. In BAR v. TRAVELSTEAD, 435 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1983), the subject attorney was charged with conspiracy to import large quantities of marijuana and fled this state's jurisdiction to avoid prosecution. BAR v. RYAN, 394 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1981), involved an attorney who converted Twenty Thousand (\$20,000) Dollars of a client's money, was indicted for conspiracy to possess with intent to sell One Hundred (100) pounds of marijuana and subsequently disappeared, presumably to avoid prosecution. The attorney in BAR v. WILSON, supra, pressured a client who was in jail to make arrangements to have delivered to him One and a Half (1-1/2) pounds of cocaine. He continued to deny his guilt after conviction during Bar disciplinary proceedings, and had been an attorney all of six months. Again, the Respondent does

- 11 -

not suggest that his felony was not a serious breach of conduct and good moral character expected of an attorney. To the contrary, he has sincerely said and acted otherwise. Still, even the most critical eye must perceive a difference between the motivation, and wilful and flagrant character of the participants in the cases above, and the circumstances surrounding the Respondent's arrest. His involvement in the "sale" of cocaine was directly related to his drug addiction and its insidious corruption of the values by which he has lived the better part of his life. Nor did the Respondent's sale involve the odious character of trafficking in a controlled substance as a business for profit as is evident in several of the cases cited by the Bar. His sale was to accommodate a friend within the context of his addiction. It is obvious from the Referee's comments and report that he was in agreement with the foregoing characterization.

It is readily apparent that substantial mitigating circumstances surrounded the Respondent's conviction. As noted above, this Court has already observed that such matters are a legitimate area of inquiry in determining the appropriate disciplinary measures to be taken against an errant attorney. Thus, even in BAR v. WILSON, supra, an extreme case involving an attorney of only six months who pressured and solicited his client in jail to arrange the delivery of one and one-half pounds of cocaine, Justice Ehrlich speaking for this Court, stated:

- 12 -

"If substantial and convincing evidence of mitigating circumstances had been presented the complexion of the case may very well have been <u>different</u>. But no evidence in mitigation has been proferred by respondent." Id. at page 3 (Emphasis supplied)

And, in BAR v. CARBONARO, supra, a recent case dealing with an attorney guilty of a felony involving "large quantities" of cocaine, a majority of this Court approved the referee's recommendation that Carbonaro be suspended rather than disbarred as urged by the Bar:

> "based upon the evidence and the referee's findings of <u>mitigating circumstances</u> and the respondent's <u>potential for rehabilitation</u>..." <u>Id</u>. at page 551 (Emphasis supplied)

BAR v. FUSSELL, supra, represents yet another case where this Court observed that it is appropriate for an attorney:

"... to explain the circumstances of the offense and otherwise <u>mitigate</u> the disciplinary penalty." (Emphasis supplied) Id. at page 854

Although traditionally, mitigating circumstances are of importance in determining the punishment to be imposed upon an attorney within the framework of <u>disciplinary proceedings</u>, such factors are undeniably also of significance in evaluating whether or not an attorney has indeed rehabilitated himself as a condition precedent to his reinstatement. It is obvious from the language of the Referee's comments in the record and his report that he did in fact weigh the circumstances surrounding the Respondent's conviction in determining that the Respondent should be reinstated to the Bar. (TT. 126-132). In other words, the Referee concluded, based upon the evidence before him, and considering the nature of the Respondent's offense with its attendant circumstances of addiction, that he had lived and conducted himself during his suspension commensurate with what is required to fairly demonstrate rehabilitation and satisfaction of the criteria for reinstatement. In In Re: PETITION OF DAWSON, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1961), involving a petition for reinstatement, this Court observed:

> "The essential elements will, of course, vary with the particular case, depending primarily upon the requirements of the disciplinary order, as well as upon the nature of the offense which resulted in a disciplinary action. (Emphasis supplied)

<u>Id</u>. at page 474. The Court thereafter enumerated the elements to be considered as a guide in the deliberation of reinstatement. Those elements are essentially the same as set forth by the Bar in its brief citing In Re: PETITION OF TINSON, 301 So.2d 448, 449 (Fla. 1974).

The offense for which the Respondent was suspended involved a conviction of a felony. In looking at the circumstances and nature of the Respondent's offense, DAWSON, supra, it is difficult to imagine what more would be necessary to indicate that he has proven himself worthy of the privilege of again practicing law. The facts below unequivocally demonstrate that he has in every way possible removed himself from the drug element that lead to his felony conviction; that he has sincerely and convincingly reunited himself with the values, ethics and morals expected of a member of the Bar; that his character since his suspension has been unimpeachable and his repentance and desire to be an exemplary member of the Bar genuine; that both past and present, he has enjoyed the reputation for being a competent, able and ethical attorney. Indeed, it was because of this exemplary conduct subsequent to his felony conviction that the Respondent's probation was terminated well in advance of its expiration date. The Miami Beach Bar Association in a totally unsolicited letter to the Bar stated that it had <u>no</u> <u>objection to Mr. Silverstein's reinstatement</u>. The Honorable Richard Fuller, the Respondent's sentencing judge, who now presides in the Civil Division of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in response to an inquiry by the Bar, stated:

> "I feel that this case is the <u>exception</u> and my faith in this man warrants my <u>continued</u>, <u>unreserved endorsement</u> of his return to membership in the Bar." (Emphasis supplied)

It is axiomatic that although in disciplinary proceedings the ultimate judgment is with this Court, by the same token:

> ". . the initial fact finding responsibility is imposed upon the referee. His findings of fact should be accorded <u>substantial</u> <u>weight</u>. They should not be overturned unless <u>clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary</u> <u>support</u>."

<u>Id</u>. at 772 citing STATE ex rel FLORIDA BAR v. BASS, 106 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1958).

The areas to which a referee's fact finding is directed necessarily depends upon the nature of the proceedings before him. Thus, for example, when disciplinary proceedings have been commenced against an attorney, the refeee is charged with making a factual determination regarding the existence of the commssion of the offense or violation charged. On the other hand, in reinstatement proceedings, an attorney's guilt of the conduct or offense which led to his former discipline and/or suspension has already been determined. The fact finding role of the referee in this latter instance, is, of necessity, therefore directed to those areas involving rehabilitation subsequent to discipline, which includes but is not limited to, attitude, conduct and life-style. As observed earlier, the issue to be decided is the attorney's fitness to resume the practice of law.

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